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No. 15-30012

IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS

FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

                                  Plaintiff-Appellee,  

                        -vs-

JORDAN JAMES LAMOTT,

                                  Defendant-Appellant.  

REPLY BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

I. INTRODUCTION

In this appeal, Mr. Lamott presents two arguments.  First, the District

Court failed to instruct the jury that the jury had to find beyond a reasonable

doubt that Mr. Lamott “assaulted” his girlfriend.  Second, although Count I:

Assault by Strangling is a specific intent crime, the District Court, as requested

by the Government, erroneously instructed the jury to disregard evidence of

Mr. Lamott’s voluntary intoxication.

An answering brief has now been filed by the Government.  The

Government’s arguments are not well taken.  Mr. Lamott responds herein to

the primary assertions raised by the Government.

1
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II. ARGUMENT

1.  The crime, Assault by Strangling, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §113(8),

is the new darling of the Montana United States Attorney’s nursery.  United

States v. Licciardi, 30 F.3d 1127, 1133 (9  Cir. 1994) (“Long ago Learnedth

Hand referred to the general conspiracy statute as the ‘darling of the modern

prosecutor's nursery.’ (citation omitted).”).  As recognized by the District Court

at the sentencing hearing, “[f]rom reviewing my calendar, it seems to be the

new favorite of the U.S. Attorney’s Office.”  (SER 426).

Enacted in March of 2013, the United States Attorney has charged

several individuals, primarily Native Americans, with Assault by Strangling. 

(Public Law 113-4-Mar. 7, 2013).  However, in his zeal and excitement, he has

convicted some of theses individuals, including Mr. Lamott, without properly

applying the elements of Assault by Strangling.

To paraphrase Judge Reinhardt, the United States Attorney for the

District of Montana has too often sought to extend the Assault by Strangling

statute far beyond it limits.  Licciardi, 30 F.3d at 1138 (Reinhardt, J.,

concurring and dissenting).  Because the statutory term, assault, has been, and

continues to be, omitted from the elements of Assault by Strangling, this Court

must find plain error

The United States Attorney’s submission of the elements of Assault by

Strangling has been mistaken, inconsistent, and confusing.  A close

examination of the elements as applied to Mr. Lamott’s case follows:

2
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Statute: “Assault...by strangling” (18 U.S.C. §
113(8)).

Indictment: “...intentionally assaulted J.F.,...by strangling
J.F....”  (ER 2).

Ninth Circuit Pattern: “First, the defendant assaulted [name of
victim] by intentionally strangling her;”
(based on 9  CIR. CRIM JURY INSTR. 8.8,TH

8.9 & 8.10 (2010)).

Proposed by Government: “Third, the defendant assaulted J.F. by
intentionally striking or wounding her;
Fourth, the defendant did so by strangling J.F.”
(ER 3).

District Court’s No.  6: “Second, the defendant intentionally wounded
J.F. by strangling her;” (ER 27).

Although the Government Mr. Lamott with “intentionally assaulting” his

girlfriend, it added two more elements, striking or wounding, in its proposed

jury instruction.  Also, in its proposed instruction, the assault is no longer

“intentional” as alleged in the Indictment.  Moreover, the Government has

cited the Ninth Circuit Model Jury Instructions as authority but failed to follow

the pattern language of the specific instructions it cites.  (Answering Brief at

20).

Left with the confusion created by the Government, the District Court

erroneously deleted “assault” from the jury instructions.  Other courts have

recognized that § 113 “is a badly drafted statute” in part because “assault” is

not defined.  United States v. Watts, 798 F.3d 650, 652-653 (7  Cir. 2015) (“Itth

would help if the statute defined assault.”).   However, from a common sense

reading of the statute as currently worded, the crime is, and must be, “Assault
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by Strangling”, not “Wounding by Strangling.” 

Prompted by the United States Attorney, the District Court deleted

“assault” from the elements of Assault by Strangling in at least one other case.

A comparison to that case, United States v. Whitegrass   where the United1

States Attorney charged the offense of Assault by Strangling, proves this point. 

Unlike Mr. Lamont, the defendant in Whitegrass pleaded guilty.  A close

examination of the elements as applied to the Whitegrass case follows:

Statute: “Assault...by strangling” (18 U.S.C. §
113(8)).

Indictment: “...intentionally assaulted S.W.,...by
strangling S.W...”  (Doc. 2 at 2 & 3, U.S. v.
Whitegrass, No. 15-31-GF-BMM filed
05/06/15). 

Ninth Circuit Pattern: “First, the defendant assaulted [name of
victim] by intentionally strangling her.;”
(based on 9  CIR. CRIM JURY INSTR. 8.8,TH

8.9 & 8.10 (1910)).

According to the Government:  “Third, the defendant intentionally strangled
(Plea Agreement) the victim; ”

(Doc. 16 at 3, U.S. v. Whitegrass, No. 15-31-
GF-BMM filed 06/05/15). 

According to the Government: “Third, the Defendant intentionally strangled
(Offer of Proof)                   the victim;”

(Doc. 17 at 2, U.S. v. Whitegrass, No. 15-31-
GF-BMM filed 06/06/15). 

1

This Court can and should take judicial notice of  three documents which were
filed by the Government in the case of United States v. Chanler Chaze
Whitegrass in United States District Court for the District of Montana Cause
No. CR 15-31-GF-BMM.  Numbered 2, 16 and 17, copies of these three
documents have been filed herewith for the convenience of the Court.
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As can be seen, the defendant in Whitegrass pleaded guilty without ever

admitting or agreeing that he assaulted the victim as required by the statue and

as alleged in the indictment.  And the District Court accepted and approved this

mistaken wording of the element, i.e., “intentionally strangled the victim,”

again erroneously omitting “assault.”  

In the District of Montana, does the Government believe that the

questioned element is “the Defendant intentionally strangled the victim” or

“the defendant intentionally wounded [the victim by strangling her]”?  Both are

wrong because both omit “assault.”  

  In the District of Montana, does the District Court believe that the

questioned element is “the Defendant intentionally strangled the victim” or

“the defendant intentionally wounded [the victim by strangling her]”?  Both are

wrong because both omit “assault.” 

This Court must not wait for its Jury Instruction Committee to prepare

the correct and proper pattern instruction for Assault by Strangling.  Instead,

this Court must specifically hold that “assault” must be included in the

elements instruction for Assault by Strangling.   

2.  Plain error must be found in this case.  In United States v. Lapier, 796

F.3d 1090 (9  Cir. 2015), this Court recently restated “the four requirementsth

for a finding of plain error”:

(1) there is an error;

(2) the error is clear or obvious rather than subject to reasonable dispute;

5
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(3) the error affected the appellant's substantial rights, which in the
ordinary case means it affected the outcome of the district court
proceedings; and 

(4) the error seriously affects the fairness, integrity or public reputation
of judicial proceedings.

Id. at 1095-1096 (citation omitted).

The District Court erred by failing to instruct the jury to find, beyond a

reasonable doubt, that Mr. Lamott “assaulted” his girlfriend as required by the

statue and as alleged in the Indictment.  This error is clear and obvious from

a reading of the statute and a reading of the Indictment.

In Instruction No. 3, the District Court presented the jury with the exact

and precise language from the Indictment, i.e., that Mr. Lamott “intentionally

assaulted J.F.,...by strangling J.F.”  (ER 24).  In Instruction No. 5, the District

Court set forth the statutory language of Assault by Strangling, i.e.,

“[a]ssault...by strangling...”    (ER 26).  After twice telling the jury that Mr.

Lamott was charged by statute and indictment with assaulting his girlfriend,

the District Court inexplicitly omitted “assault” from its elements instruction,

No. 6.  (ER 27).  

This created a genuine possibility of juror confusion because after the

jurors were told that Mr. Lamott was accused of assaulting his girlfriend, they

were then told that they should find him guilty without determining, and

unanimously agreeing, that he assaulted her.  Moreover, by following these

instructions, the jury found Mr. Lamott guilty of  Assault by Strangling without

unanimously deciding that he actually assaulted his girlfriend.

6
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The confusion here was intensified by Mr. Lamott’s trial testimony.  He

never admitted or agreed that he assaulted his girlfriend.  On the one hand, he

said that she got bruises on her arms and legs “when I tried to remove her.”“

(SER 232, 238).  But he emphatically denied that he strangled her:

Q.  Okay.  All right.  Now, did you at any point strangle her?
A.  No
Q.  Okay.  Do you remember that for sure?
A.  Yes.

(SER 233, 243, 254).  Furthermore, Mr. Lamott said that it was not possible

that he strangled her.  (SER 244).  Although the terms “bruises” and “wounds”

are not defined in the jury instructions, by applying the District Court’s

elements instruction, the jury could have concluded that Mr. Lamott

“intentionally wounded [bruised]” the victim without finding that he

intentionally assaulted her by strangling her.   (See, SER 254: “Q.  And you

can’t tell this jury any other way that those injuries [which injuries?] would

have occurred?  A.  No.”). 

          As in United States v. Watts, 798 F.3d 650, 654 (7  Cir. 2015), the errorth

was “mischievous.”  Here, like in Watts, the jury was unable to reach a verdict

on the on Assault Resulting in Serious Bodily Injury, and instead convicted

Mr. Lamott of Assault by Strangling “though the evidence of [Assault

Resulting in Serious Bodily Injury] was [virtually] overwhelming and of

[Assault by Strangling] nonexistent” and conflicting.  Id.; (See, ER 50).

Mr. Lamott does not have to show that, but for the error, the jury would

have acquitted him.    Lapier, 796 F.3d at 1098.  “Having determined that the

7
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possibility of jury confusion about what acts formed the basis of his conviction

was ‘genuine,’ [this Court is] ‘not free to speculate’ about what his jury might

have concluded had it been properly instructed.  (citation omitted).”  Id. 

Because the jury verdict is in doubt, Mr. Lamott’s substantial rights, including

his right to a jury trial as well as the fairness, integrity or public reputation of

the judicial proceedings, was affected.

This error is clear, obvious, and plain. 

3.  The Government contends that its inclusion of “intentionally” in the

Indictment [is] mere surplusage...[and thus]...the government would not have

to prove” specific intent at trial.  (Answering Brief at 20).  The Government is

wrong.

The Government ignores the definition of “strangling” which “means

intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly impeding the normal breathing or

circulation of the blood of a person by applying pressure to the throat or neck,

regardless of whether that conduct results in any visible injury or whether there

is any intent to kill or protractedly injure the victim.”  18 U.S.C. § 113(b)(4). 

Thus, an assault by strangling can be either intentional, knowing, or reckless. 

By choosing to charge the mental state as “intentionally,” the Government

charged Assault by Strangling against Mr. Lamott as a specific intent crime

regardless whether the statute may allow it to be charged as a general intent

crime. 

The definition of strangling clearly states that there does not have to be
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a specific “intent to kill” the victim or a specific “intent to protractedly injure”

the victim.  However, by alleging “intentionally” in the Indictment, the

Government had to prove the specific intent to strangle, i.e., the specific intent

to “imped[e] the normal breathing or circulation of the blood of a person by

applying pressure to the throat or neck.”  

The Government agreed that evidence at trial showed that Mr. Lamott

“may have been intoxicated at the time that the crimes charged were

committed.”  (ER 5).  Thus, the jury should have been instructed to consider

this intoxication evidence in deciding whether the Government proved beyond

a reasonable doubt that Mr. Lamott acted with the intent required to commit

Assault by Strangling, i.e., whether he acted with intent to “imped[e] the

normal breathing or circulation of the blood of a person by applying pressure

to the throat or neck.” 

Plain and clear error was committed because the jury was not instructed

to consider evidence of Mr. Lamott’s intoxication.  This error was magnified

because, at the Government’s insistence, the District Court specifically

instructed the jury that voluntary intoxication “is not a defense” to Assault by

Strangulation.  (Instruction No. 15 at ER 36).

This error is unquestionably plain.

4.  “[A]n error in criminal jury instructions requires reversal unless there

is no reasonable possibility that the error materially affected the verdict or, in

other words, that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. (citation

9
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omitted).”  United States v. Peppers, 697 F.3d 1217, 1221 n.3 (9  Cir. 2012). th

In considering whether a jury was properly instructed, “[t]he Government’s

burden in proving harmless error is a high one.”  United States v. Montoya-

Gaxiola, 796 F.3d 1118, 1124 (9  Cir. 2015).  With this high burden, theth

Government cannot show that the jury instruction errors here were harmless

beyond a reasonable doubt.

III. CONCLUSION

Because the District Court omitted assault from the elements instruction,

the jury did not find Mr. Lamott to be guilty of assault.  Therefore, Count I:

Assault by Strangling must be dismissed.  At a minimum, the case must be

reversed and remanded for a new trial at which a new jury would  consider

evidence of intoxication to decide whether Mr. Lamott had the specific intent

to commit Assault by Strangling.

 RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 14  day of December, 2015.th

JORDAN JAMES LAMOTT

By      /s/ Daniel Donovan                        
DANIEL DONOVAN
Counsel for Defendant-Appellant
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CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

I hereby certify that this Reply Brief is in compliance with Ninth Circuit

Rule 32.  The Brief’s line spacing is double spaced.  The brief is

proportionately spaced, the body of the argument has a Times New Roman

typeface, 14 point size and contains less than 7,000 words at an average of 194

words (or less) per page, including footnotes and quotations.  (Total number

of words: 2,253, excluding tables and certificates).

DATED this 14  day of December, 2015.th

JORDAN JAMES LAMOTT

By      /s/ Daniel Donovan                        
DANIEL DONOVAN
Counsel for Defendant-Appellant
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
When Not All Case Participants are Registered for the 
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I hereby certify that on December 14, 2015, I electronically filed the

foregoing with the Clerk of the Court for the United States Court of Appeals

for the Ninth Circuit by using the appellate CM/ECF system.

Participants in the case who are registered CM/ECF users will be served

by the appellate CM/ECF system.

I further certify that some of the participants in the case are not

registered CM/ECF users.  I have mailed the foregoing document by First-

Class Mail, postage prepaid, or have dispatched it to a third party commercial

carrier for delivery within 3 calendar days to the following non-CM/ECF

participants:

JORDAN JAMES LAMOTT
No. 13346-046
FCI Sheridan
Federal Correctional Institution
P.O. Box 5000
Sheridan, OR 97378
Defendant-Appellant

   /s/ Daniel Donovan                            
     DANIEL DONOVAN

Counsel for Defendant-Appellant
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FILEDJESSICA A. BETLEY 
Assistant U.S. Attorney 
U.S. Attorney's Office 
P.O. Box 3447 
Great Falls, MT 59403 
119 First Ave. North, Suite 300 
Great Falls, MT 59403 
Phone: (406) 761-7715 
FAX: (406) 453-9973 
E-mail: Jessica.Betley@usdoj.gov 

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MONT ANA 

GREAT FALLS DIVISION 

MAY 062015 

Clerk. u.s District Court 

Dislrt<:f OfMontana 


Oreal Falls 


UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

VS. 

CHANLER CHAZE 
WHITEGRASS, 

Defendant. 

CR ]5-3\ -GF-BMM 

INDICTMENT 

STRANGULATION 

(COUNTS I and III) 

Title 18 U.S.C. §§ 1153(a) and 113(a)(8) 

(Penalty: Ten years imprisonment, 

$250,000 fine, and three years of supervised 

release) 


ASSAULT RESULTING IN SUBST ANIAL 

BODILY INJURY 

(COUNTS II and IV) 

Title 18 U.S.C. §§ 1153(a) and 113(a)(7) 

(Penalty: Five years imprisonment, 

$250,000 fine, and three years supervised 

release) 


1 


Case 4:15-cr-00031-BMM   Document 2   Filed 05/06/15   Page 1 of 4
  Case: 15-30012, 12/14/2015, ID: 9790449, DktEntry: 29-2, Page 1 of 4

mailto:Jessica.Betley@usdoj.gov


ASSAULT WITH A DANGEROUS 
WEAPON 
(COUNT V) 

• Title 18 U.S.c. §§ 1153(a) and 113(a)(3) 

• (Penalty: Ten years imprisonment, 
'I' $250,000 fine, and three years supervised 
· release) 

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES: 

COUNT I 

That on or about November 27, 2014, at Browning, in the State and District 

ofMontana, and within the exterior boundaries of the Blackfeet Indian 

Reservation, being Indian Country, the defendant, CHANLER CHAZE 

WHITEGRASS, an Indian person, intentionally assaulted S.W., a spouse, intimate 

partner, and dating partner of the defendant, CHANLER CHAZE WHITEGRASS, 

by strangling S. W., in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 11S3(a) and 113(a)(8). 

COUNT II 

That on or about November 27, 2014, at Browning, in the State and District 

of Montana, and within the exterior boundaries of the Blackfeet Indian 

Reservation, being Indian Country, the defendant, CHANLER CHAZE 

WHITEGRASS, an Indian person, intentionally assaulted S.W., a spouse, intimate 

partner, and dating partner of the defendant, CHANLER CHAZE WHITEGRASS, 

said assault resulting in substantial bodily injury, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 11S3(a) and 113(a)(7). 
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COUNTIIII 


That on or about April 11,2014, at Browning, in the State and District of 

Montana, and within the exterior boundaries of the Blackfeet Indian Reservation, 

being Indian Country, the defendant, CHANLER CRAZE WHITEGRASS, an 

Indian person, intentionally assaulted S.W., a spouse, intimate partner, and dating 

partner ofthe defendant, CHANLER CRAZE WHITEGRASS, by strangling S.W., 

in violation ofl8 U.S.c. §§ llS3(a) and 1l3(a)(8). 

COUNT IV 

That on or about AprilIl, 2014, at Browning, in the State and District of 

. Montana, and within the exterior boundaries of the Blackfeet Indian Reservation, 

being Indian Country, the defendant, CHANLER CRAZE WHITEGRASS, an 

Indian person, intentionally assaulted S.W., a spouse, intimate partner, and dating 

partner of the defendant, CRANLER CRAZE WHITEGRASS, said assault 

resulting in substantial bodily injury, in violation of 18 US.c. §§ 11S3(a) and 

113(a)(7). 

COUNT V 

That on or about November 27,2014, at Browning, in the State and District 

of Montana, and within the exterior boundaries ofthe Blackfeet Indian 

Reservation, being Indian Country, the defendant, CHANLER CHAZE 

WHITEGRASS, an Indian person, with the intent to do bodily hann, intentionally 
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assaulted S.W. with a dangerous weapon, that is a knife, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§§ l1S3(a) and 113(a)(3). 

A TRUEBlLL. 

 

MICHAEL W. COTTER 


Cr inal Chief Assistant U.S. Attorney 

Crim. SlImlllOl1$--::::,...... 
Warrantl V, ,'I 
6011,,___---11 
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Foreperson signature redacted.  Original document filed under seal.
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JESSICA A. BETLEY 
Assistant U.S. Attorney 
U.S. Attorney's Office 
P.O. Box 3447 
Great Falls, MT 59403 
119 First Ave. North, # 300 
Phone: (406) 761-7715 
FAX: (406) 453-9973 
Email: Jessica.Betley@usdoj.gov 

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF MONTANA 


GREAT FALLS DIVISION 


UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, CR 15-31-GF-BMM 

Plaintiff, PLEA AGREEMENT 

vs. 

CHANLER CHAZE WHITEGRASS, 

Defendant. 

FILED 

JUN 052015 

Cleli<, u,s Di$!Jict Court 

District OfMontana 


Great Falls 

Pursuant to Rule II of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, the United 

States of America, by Jessica A. Betley, Assistant United States Attorney for the 

District ofMontana, and the defendant, Chanler Chaze Whitegrass, and his 

attorney, R. Henry Branom, Jr., have agreed upon the following: 

llbtlS~A~I ATTY Date 
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1. Scope: This plea agreement is between the United States Attorney's 

Office for the District of Montana and defendant. It does not bind any other 

federal, state, or local prosecuting, administrative or regulatory authority, or the 

United States Probation Office. 

2. Charges: Defendant agrees to plead guilty to Count III of the 

Indictment, which charges the crime of Strangulation in violation of 18 U .S.C. 

§§ 1153(a) and 113(a)(8). This offense carries a maximum punishment often 

years imprisonment, a $250,000 fine, three years supervised release, and a $100 

special assessment. 

At the time of sentencing, the United States will move to dismiss Counts I, 

II, IV and V ofthe Indictment, if the Court accepts this plea agreement. 

Agreement as to Restitution: The defendant acknowledges and agrees to 

be responsible for complete restitution regardless of whether counts of the 

indictment will be dismissed as part of this plea agreement. 18 U.S.C. 

§ 3663(a)(3). 

3. Nature of the Agreement: The parties agree that this plea agreement 

shall be filed and become a part ofthe record in this case, and will be governed by 

Rule II(c)(l)(A) and (B), Federal Rules a/Criminal Procedure. The defendant 

acknowledges that the agreement will be fulfilled provided a) the United States 

moves to dismiss, and the Court agrees to dismiss, Counts I, II, IV and V of the 

r1z...... Wi, {HZ J4$5 
2 ~ DEF ATTY Date 
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Indictment, and b) makes the recommendations provided below. The defendant 

understands that if the agreement is accepted by the Court, and Counts I, n, IV and 

V are dismissed, there will not be an automatic right to withdraw the plea even if 

the Court does not accept or follow the recommendations made by the United 

States. 

4. Admission of Guilt: The defendant will plead guilty because the 

defendant is in fact guilty of the charge contained in the Indictment. In pleading 

guilty, the defendant acknowledges that: 

First, the Defendant is an Indian person; 

Second, the crime occurred within the exterior boundaries of the Blackfeet 
Indian Reservation; 

Third, the defendant intentionally strangled the victim; and 

Fourth, the victim was a spouse, dating partner, or intimate partner of the 
defendant at the time ofthe strangulation. 

The term "strangling" means intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly 
impeding the normal breathing or circulation of the blood ofa person by 
applying pressure to the throat or neck, regardless of whether that conduct 
results in any visible injury or whether there is any intent to kill or 
protractedly injure the victim. 

5. Waiver of Rights by Plea: 

(a) The government has a right to use against the defendant, in a 

prosecution for perjury or false statement, any statement that the defendant gives 
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under oath during plea colloquy. 

(b) The defendant has the right to plead not guilty or to persist in a 

plea of not guilty. 

(c) The defendant has the right to a juI)' trial unless the defendant, 

by written waiver, consents to a non-juI)' trial. The government must also consent 

and the court must approve a non-juI)' trial. 

Cd) The defendant has the right to be represented by counsel, and if 

necessaI)', have the court appoint counsel, at trial and at eveI)' other stage of these 

proceedings. 

(e) If the trial is ajuI)'trial, the juI)' would be composed of 12 

laypersons selected at random. The defendant and defense attorney would have a 

say in who the jurors would be by removing prospective jurors for cause where 

actual bias or other disqualification is shown, or without cause by exercising 

peremptoI)' challenges. The JUI)' would have to agree unanimously before it could 

return a verdict of either guilty or not guilty. The juI)' would be instructed that the 

defendant is presumed innocent, and that it could not convict the defendant unless, 

after hearing all the evidence, it was persuaded of the defendant's guilt beyond a 

reasonable doubt. 

(f) If the trial is held by the judge without a jUl)', the judge would 
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find the facts and detennine, after hearing all the evidence, whether or not he was 

persuaded of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. 

(g) At a trial, whether by ajury or ajudge, the government would 

be required to present its witnesses and other evidence against the defendant. The 

defendant would be able to confront those government witnesses and the defense 

attorney would be able to cross-examine them. In turn, the defendant could present 

witnesses and other evidence on the defendant's own behalf. If the witnesses for 

the defendant would not appear voluntarily, their appearance could be mandated 

through the subpoena power ofthe court. 

(h) At a trial, there is a privilege against self-incrimination so that 

the defendant could decline to testify and no inference ofguilt could be drawn 

from refusal to testify. Or the defendant could exercise the choice to testify on his 

or her own behalf. 

(i) If convicted, and within 14 days of the entry ofthe Judgment 

and Commitment, the defendant would have the right to appeal the conviction to 

the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals for review to detennine if any errors were made 

which would entitle the defendant to reversal of the conviction. 

U) The defendant has a right to have the district court conduct the 

change ofplea hearing required by Rule 11 , Federal Rules ofCriminal Procedure. 
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By execution of this agreement, the defendant expressly waives that right and 

agrees to hold that hearing before, and allow the Rule II colloquy to be conducted 

by, the u.s. Magistrate Judge. 

The defendant understands that by pleading guilty pursuant to this 

agreement, defendant is waiving all the rights set forth in this paragraph. The 

defendant's attorney has explained these rights and the consequences of waiving 

these rights. 

6. Sentencing Guidelines: Although advisory, the parties agree that the 

U.s. Sentencing Guidelines must be applied, and a calculation determined, as part 

of the protocol of sentencing to determine what sentence will be reasonable. 

7. Waiver of Appeal of Advisory Guideline Sentence: The 

defendant acknowledges that 18 U.S.c. § 3742(a) affords him the right to appeal 

the sentence imposed in this case. By this agreement the defendant waives his 

right to appeal any aspect of the sentence, including conditions of probation or 

supervised release, if the defendant has no objection to the calculation of the 

guidelines and the sentence imposed is within or below the range provided for 

by that calculation. 

The defendant also waives his right to challenge the sentence in a 

collateral proceeding pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255. This waiver does not 
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prohibit his right to pursue or maintain such an alleging that he received 


ineffective assistance of counsel. 


8. Voluntary Plea: The defendant and defendant's attorney 

acknowledge that no threats, promises, or representations have been made to 

induce the defendant to plead guilty, and this agreement is freely and voluntarily 

endorsed by the parties. 

9. Disclosure of Financial Information: The defendant authorizes the 

U.S. Probation Office to release to the Financial Litigation Unit of the U.S. 

Attorney's Office all documents and fmancial information provided by the 

defendant to the U.S. Probation Office and any information obtained by the U.S. 

Probation Office about the defendant through its investigation. The defendant 

further agrees to fully complete a financial statement in the form prescribed by the 

u.s. Attorney's Office, provide financial documents as requested, and submit to a 

debtor's exam if deemed appropriate by the U.S. Attorney's Office pre-sentencing, 

in order to evaluate the defendant's ability to satisfy any financial obligation 

imposed by the Court. The defendant consents to being immediately placed on the 

Treasury Offset Program to help meet the defendant's obligation to pay restitution 

and/or a fine. 

10. DetentionIRelease After Plea: Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3143(a)(1), 
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the defendant acknowledges that he will be detained upon conviction unless the 

Court finds, by clear and convincing evidence, that he will not likely flee or pose a 

danger to the community. 

11. Breach: If defendant breaches the terms of this agreement, or 

commits any new criminal offenses between signing this agreement and 

sentencing, the U.S. Attorney's Office is relieved of its obligations under this 

agreement, but defendant may not withdraw any guilty plea. 

12. Entire Agreement: Any statements or representations made by the 

United States, the defendant, or his counsel prior to the full execution of this plea 

agreement are superseded by this plea agreement. No promises or representations 

have been made by the United States except as set forth in writing in this plea 

agreement. This plea agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the 

parties. Any term or condition which is not expressly stated as part ofthis 

plea agreement is not to be considered part of the agreement. 

III 

II/ 

11/ 

III 

CliJttir If& ~IS 
8 A~S~ DEF ATTY Date 

Case 4:15-cr-00031-BMM   Document 16   Filed 06/05/15   Page 8 of 9
  Case: 15-30012, 12/14/2015, ID: 9790449, DktEntry: 29-3, Page 8 of 9



MICHAEL W. COlTER 
United States Attorne~ 

A~; tant U. S. Attorney 
U 

LL~~~~/

CHANLER CHAZE T GRASS 
Defendant 
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JESSICA A. BETLEY  
Assistant U.S. Attorney 
U.S. Attorney’s Office 
P.O. Box 3447 
Great Falls, MT  59403 
119 First Ave. North, Suite 300 
Great Falls, MT  59403 
Phone:  (406) 761-7715 
FAX:  (406) 453-9973 
E-mail:   Jessica.Betley@usdoj.gov 
 
ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
    

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MONTANA 

GREAT FALLS DIVISION 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 
                   Plaintiff, 
 
        vs.     
 
CHANLER CHAZE WHITEGRASS, 
 
                   Defendant. 
       

CR 15-31-GF-BMM 
 
 
 
 
 
OFFER OF PROOF 

 
THE CHARGES 

 
 The defendant, CHANLER CHAZE WHITEGRASS, is charged by 

Indictment with the crimes of strangulation in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1153(a) 

and 113(a)(8) (Counts I and III); assault resulting in substantial bodily injury in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1153(a) and 113(a)(7) (Counts II and IV); and assault 
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with a dangerous weapon in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1153(a) and 113(a)(3) 

(Count V).  

PLEA 

 The defendant, CHANLER CHAZE WHITEGRASS, will enter a voluntary 

plea of guilty to the crime of strangulation as charged in Count III in the 

Indictment.   

The United States presented any and all formal plea offers to the defendant 

in writing.  The plea agreement entered into by the parties and filed with the Court 

represents, in the government’s view, the most favorable offer extended to the 

defendant.  See, e.g., Missouri v. Frye, 132 S. Ct. 1399 (2012). 

ELEMENTS 

 In order for the defendant to be found guilty of strangulation, the United 

States must prove each of the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt: 

  First, the Defendant is an Indian person; 
 

Second, the crime occurred within the exterior boundaries of the Blackfeet 
Indian Reservation; 
 
Third, the defendant intentionally strangled the victim; and 
 
Fourth, the victim was a spouse, dating partner, or intimate partner of the 
defendant at the time of the strangulation. 
 
The term “strangling” means intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly 
impeding the normal breathing or circulation of the blood of a person by 
applying pressure to the throat or neck, regardless of whether that conduct 
results in any visible injury or whether there is any intent to kill or 
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protractedly injure the victim.   
 

PENALTY 

 The charge of strangulation in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1153(a) and 

113(a)(8) carries a maximum punishment of 10 years imprisonment, a $250,000 

fine, three years supervised release, and a $100 special assessment.  

ANTICIPATED EVIDENCE 

If this case were tried in United States District Court, the United States 

would prove the following: 1 

 The defendant, Chanler Whitegrass, and the victim, have been in an ongoing 

relationship over the past decade and have two teenage daughters.  They have 

never married, but often refer to each other as their spouse.  Both live on the 

Blackfeet Indian Reservation and are enrolled members of the Blackfeet Tribe.   

 On April 11, 2014, the defendant and the victim were at the victim’s home 

on the Blackfeet Indian Reservation.  The defendant became angry at the victim, 

and came up behind her and grabbed her by the throat.  He applied pressure to her 

throat until she could not breathe, and she believed she was going to black out.  
                                                           
1 The Offer of Proof does not encompass all of the proof that the United States would offer at 
trial.  Rather, it includes the proof that would be necessary to support the elements of the charge 
to which the defendant is pleading guilty.  The United States possesses, or may possess, other 
evidence which may be redundant to the evidence described above or otherwise unnecessary for 
this stage of the proceeding. The United States possesses, or may possess, other evidence which 
will more fully inform the Court as to the appropriate sentence.  Neither the Court nor the 
defendant should consider this pleading as inclusive of all evidence known to the government or 
a self-imposed limitation on the evidence it may use in the future for purposes other than to 
support the entry of plea.  
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The defendant and victim’s daughter walked into the home and saw her father, the 

defendant, strangling her mother’s neck.  The daughter immediately ran out of the 

house and had a friend call the police.  An ambulance transported the victim to the 

hospital where she received medical care for the strangulation. 

 The United States would have presented this evidence through the testimony 

of law enforcement, expert witnesses and lay witnesses.    

DATED this 6th day of June, 2015. 

      MICHAEL W. COTTER 
      United States Attorney 
  

      /s/  Jessica A. Betley      
      JESSICA A. BETLEY 
      Assistant U.S. Attorney 
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